### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Petitioner,

v.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, Respondent.

BRYAN MAURICE JONES,

Real Party in Interest.

No. S255826

(Related to California Supreme Court Case No. S217284 [on Habeas Corpus]; No. S042346 [on Direct Appeal])

SUPREME COURT
FILED

OCT **23** 2019

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

### **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

Appeal from the Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D074028 Superior Court of San Diego County, Case No. CR136371 The Honorable Joan P. Weber, Judge of the Superior Court

SUMMER STEPHAN
District Attorney

### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- 1. Are jury selection notes protected under the attorney work product privilege when sought in a post-conviction discovery proceeding?
- 2. Does an attorney impliedly waive the attorney work product privilege by simply referencing their notes during a Batson/Wheeler inquiry by the trial court?

### INTRODUCTION

In a published opinion,<sup>1</sup> the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One, held the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it ordered discovery of jury selection notes protected by the attorney work product privilege and held that the same privilege was impliedly waived when the prosecution allegedly made testimonial use of the work product material as a "witness."

This narrative, however, rests on a fallacy. The prosecution was never a witness in its presentation to the court as an advocate. Declaring the prosecutor as a witness, 25 years after the exchange with the trial court, in order to obtain the result of declaring testimonial use of the jury selection notes was an outcome-based holding resting on faulty legal analysis.

The Court of Appeal created the fiction of the prosecutor as a witness to contort its way into its ruling the prosecutor was a witness who "refreshed" his recollection by looking at his attorney notes and, thereby, impliedly waived work product protection by disclosure through testimonial use of protected materials. Waiver being the only recognized

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> People v. Superior Court of San Diego County (Jones) (2019) 34 Cal. App.5th 75.

exception to the absolute protection of core work product privilege, the Court of Appeal's results-oriented holding is absurd.

The Court of Appeal treated an attorney giving reasons for challenging a juror as no different than a witness giving testimony under oath, which is a legally inadequate theory because it is contrary to law. An attorney has a duty of candor to the court, and this duty does not convert the attorney into a testifying witness – subject to all the rules and restrictions applicable to *true* witnesses. The Court of Appeal's decision cannot be squared with the critical principles set forth in the rules governing witnesses.

Under California law, an attorney mandated to provide explanations for challenges at a *Batson/Wheeler* hearing is not testifying as a witness. The argument that the mere review of notes by a lawyer to guide him as he advances an argument thereby waives his ability to claim core work product privilege over the document is flawed. A lawyer will frequently rely on his or her notes to guide his or her arguments before a court and to extrapolate the trial court's ruling that reference to such notes is a waiver of privilege has no basis in the law.

This Court should note the complete absence of holdings that overrule the assertion of work product privilege due to implied waiver when a lawyer refers to his or her notes. Jury selection notes are simply not "discovery material" that may be ordered disclosed pursuant to Penal Code section 1054.9, and, alternatively, the attorney work product privilege provides an absolute protection. The Court of Appeal's opinion must be overturned.

### FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

In 1994, a jury convicted defendant Bryan Maurice Jones (Jones) of the first-degree murders of JoAnn Sweets and Sophia Glover (Pen. Code, §§ 187, 189), attempted murder of Maria R. and Karen M. (Pen. Code, §§ 664/187, subd. (a)), and forcible rape, sodomy, and oral copulation of Karen M. (Pen. Code, §§ 261, subd. (a)(2), 286, subd. (c), 288a, subd. (c)). The jury further sustained an allegation that Jones used a deadly weapon in attempting to murder Maria R. (Pen. Cod, § 12022, subd. (b)), and three special circumstance allegations rendering him eligible for the death penalty: that he murdered Sweets and Glover during the commission or attempted commission of the crime of sodomy (Pen. Code, § 190.2, subd. (a)(17)), and that he committed multiple murders (Pen. Code, § 190.2, subd. (a)(3)).

On April 6, 1994, following a penalty trial, the jury set the punishment at death under the 1978 death penalty law. (Pen. Code, § 190.1 et seq.) On August 26, 2013, this Court affirmed the judgment on appeal. (People v. Jones (2013) 57 Cal.4th 899.) In affirming the judgment, this Court rejected defendant's challenge to the race-neutral explanations provided by the prosecution as to two prospective jurors the prosecutor had dismissed, and further found that ample evidence supported the trial court's ruling that no prima facie case of group bias was established as to a third juror. (People v. Jones, supra, 57 Cal.4th at pp. 916-920.)

In a subsequent amended petition for writ of habeas corpus (case no. S217284), Jones, represented by the Habeas Corpus Resource Center, alleged that trial counsel had provided ineffective assistance by failing to claim *Batson/Wheeler* error based on gender bias after the prosecutor exercised peremptory challenges against 13 of 17 prospective female jurors, four of whom were African-American. (*People v. Jones, supra,* 34 Cal.5th at p. 78.) Habeas counsel accordingly sought postconviction discovery of the prosecutor's jury selection notes under Penal Code section 1054.9. (Exh. C<sup>2</sup> at pp. 10-11.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> All references to exhibits refer to the exhibits attached to

On April 27, 2018, the trial court held a hearing to address Jones's motion for post-conviction discovery. (Exh. B at p. 7.) With regard to the prosecution's jury selection notes, the trial court specifically stated, "I think *Foster* versus *Chapman* is a game changer in this area." (Exh. B at p. 46.) The trial court further stated it tentatively ruled in favor of disclosure, because *Foster* held that prosecutor notes can be enlightening as to whether there was a racial bias. (*Id.*) The People objected, asserting the core work product privilege and stating that the *Batson* issue had already been addressed in a prior appeal. (*Id.*) Jones responded that his brief discussing core work product and Evidence Code section 771 sufficiently stated his position. (Exh. B at p. 47.) The trial court noted that it agreed with Jones's reasoning. (*Id.*) The People objected, stating that simply because an attorney referenced his notes during an argument, it was not a waiver of the privilege. (*Id.*) The trial court stated:

But in my view, if there are specific notes taken by that attorney that could possibly impeach what he said on the record – and that's exactly what happened in the *Foster* case. I mean, the prosecutor's notes showed that he was not being honest with the Court in terms of why. And I'm not saying that's at all going to be the facts with Mr. Dusek. But how can counsel ever investigate whether there was a legitimate *Batson* with regard to the exercise of challenges against minority jurors unless she has access to that material? So I think she's entitled to it under *Foster* versus *Chapman*, which I think indicates that – that these material can be relevant.

(Exh. B at p. 48.)

Over the People's objection that the notes are attorney core work product and privileged from disclosure, the trial court granted the request. (Exh. A [The Honorable Joan P. Weber's Court Order]; Exh. B at pp. 41–

Petitioner's Writ Petition filed in the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

43; Exh. D at p. 18.) The trial court ordered disclosure of the prosecutor's jury selection notes with a protective order. (Exh. B at p. 48.)

On May 24, 2018, the People filed a petition for writ of mandate and/or prohibition in the Court of Appeal requesting the trial court's order be vacated and sought a stay of the order. On June 21, 2018, the Court of Appeal summarily denied the petition.

The People filed a first petition for review, which this Court granted before transferring the matter to the Court of Appeal to issue an order to show cause.

On April 9, 2019, the Court of Appeal denied the People's petition for writ of mandate and issued a published opinion.

On May 16, 2019, the People filed a second petition for review.

In June of 2019, Jones filed an answer to the People's petition, and the People filed a reply to the answer.

On July 24, 2019, this Court granted the People's petition for review. Appellant's opening brief on the merits is due October 23, 2019.

### **ARGUMENT**

I.

# JURY SELECTION NOTES ARE NOT "DISCOVERY MATERIALS" AND ARE PROTECTED BY THE ATTORNEY WORK PRODUCT PRIVILEGE

The Court of Appeal erred when it affirmed the trial court's order for post-conviction discovery of the prosecutor's jury selection notes. The notes do not meet the post-conviction discovery requirements established by Penal Code section 1054.9 and, furthermore, are absolutely protected under the attorney work product privilege. The Court of Appeal's decision should be reversed.

A. Jury Selection Notes Are Not "Discovery Material" Under Penal Code Section 1054.9.

A court's jurisdiction to order post-conviction discovery is conveyed by Penal Code section 1054.9. Section 1054.9 regulates post-conviction discovery and provides rules that must be followed. Section 1054.9 states, in pertinent part:

- (a) Upon the prosecution of a postconviction writ of habeas corpus or a motion to vacate a judgment in a case in which a sentence of death or of life in prison without the possibility of parole has been imposed, and on a showing that good faith efforts to obtain discovery materials from trial counsel were made and were unsuccessful, the court shall, except as provided in subdivision (c), order that the defendant be provided reasonable access to any of the materials described in subdivision (b).
- (b) For purposes of this section, "discovery materials" means materials in the possession of the prosecution and law enforcement authorities to which the same defendant would have been entitled at time of trial.

(Pen. Code, § 1054.9.)

*In re Steele* identified four distinct categories of materials of permissible discovery:

Accordingly, we interpret section 1054.9 to require the trial court, on a proper showing of a good faith effort to obtain the materials from trial counsel, to order discovery of specific materials currently in the possession of the prosecution or law enforcement authorities involved in the investigation or prosecution of the case that the defendant can show either (1) the prosecution did provide at time of trial but have since become lost to the defendant; (2) the prosecution should have provided at time of trial because they came within the scope of a discovery order the trial court actually issued at that time, a statutory duty to provide discovery, or the constitutional duty to disclose exculpatory evidence; (3) the prosecution should have provided at time of trial because the defense specifically requested them at that time and was entitled to receive them; or (4) the prosecution had no obligation to provide at time of trial absent a specific defense request, but to which the defendant would have been entitled at time of trial had the defendant specifically requested them.

(In re Steele (2004) 32 Cal.4th 682, 697, italics added; accord, *People v. Superior Court (Morales)* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 523, 529.)

In re Steele established that the statute "does not allow 'free-floating' discovery asking for virtually anything the prosecution possesses.

[Citation.]" (In re Steele, supra, 32 Cal.4th at p. 695.) Discovery under section 1054.9 is limited to the materials the defendant would have been entitled to at the time of trial. (Kennedy v. Superior Court (2006) 145

Cal.App.4th 359, 366.) And at the time of trial, Jones was not entitled to the prosecution's jury selection notes under the statutory rules governing criminal discovery. (See Pen. Code, § 1054 et seq.)

Penal Code section 1054 et seq., is the controlling (and nearly exclusive) authority on pre-trial criminal discovery obligations in California. Section 1054.5, subdivision (a) states ". . .This chapter shall be the only means by which the defendant may compel the disclosure or production of information from prosecuting attorneys, law enforcement agencies which investigated or prepared the case against the defendant, or any other persons or agencies which the prosecuting attorney or investigating agency may have employed to assist them in performing their duties."

Section 1054.1 imposes upon the prosecution certain discovery obligations:

The prosecuting attorney shall disclose to the defendant or his or her attorney all of the following materials and information, if it is in the possession of the prosecuting attorney or if the prosecuting attorney knows it to be in the possession of the investigating agencies:

- (a) The names and addresses of persons the prosecutor intends to call as witnesses at trial.
- (b) Statements of all defendants.
- (c) All relevant real evidence seized or obtained as a part of the investigation of the offenses charged.
- (d) The existence of a felony conviction of any material witness whose credibility is likely to be critical to the outcome of the

trial.

- (e) Any exculpatory evidence.
- (f) Relevant written or recorded statements of witnesses or reports of the statements of witnesses whom the prosecutor intends to call at the trial, including any reports or statements of experts made in conjunction with the case, including the results of physical or mental examinations, scientific tests, experiments, or comparisons which the prosecutor intends to offer in evidence at the trial.

The prosecution's jury selection notes do not fit within this list.

In fact, the criminal discovery statutes specifically exclude attorney work product from disclosure. Penal Code section 1054.6 significantly states:

Neither the defendant nor the prosecuting attorney is required to disclose any materials or information which are work product as defined in subdivision (a) of Section 2018.030 of the Code of Civil Procedure, or which are privileged pursuant to an express statutory provision, or are privileged as provided by the Constitution of the United States.

The prosecution's jury selection notes in the Jones matter do not fall within the enumerated discovery categories and are in fact specifically prohibited from disclosure as attorney work product. Because Jones was not entitled to the jury selection notes *pre*-trial, pursuant to the criminal discovery statutes, he is certainly not entitled to them *post*-trial, under rules that mandate the foundational requirement that he *first* be entitled to them *pre*-trial.

While some cases have recognized that the criminal discovery provisions may not be a good fit for petitions for writ of habeas corpus,<sup>3</sup> the instant motion for post-conviction discovery is not a habeas corpus petition,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See People v. Superior Court (Pearson) (2010) 48 Cal.4th 564, 572; Jimenez v. Superior Court of Los Angeles County (Oct. 2, 2019, B297595) \_\_ Cal.App.5th \_\_, fn. 4 [2019 WL 4854863].

but a separate motion. A court may have jurisdiction to fashion a fair discovery rule beyond the scope of the criminal discovery statutes once it has found that petitioner has established a prima facie case to support an order to show cause in the context of a habeas petition. (See *In re Scott* (2003) 29 Cal.4th 783, 814 [discovery is available once an order to show cause issues, and courts may look to criminal discovery statutes to fashion a fair discovery rule].)

Although it remains to be seen whether a court may order jury selection notes in contravention of the attorney *core* work product privilege, in which jury selection notes fall, even after an order to show cause has issued in a *Batson/Wheeler* inquiry, the Second District Court of Appeal in *Jimenez v. Superior Court of Los Angeles County* touched on a related issue of *qualified* attorney work product protection.

The Second District Court of Appeal recently addressed the issue of qualified attorney work-product protection in the context of a habeas matter where an order to show cause had issued. (Jimenez v. Superior Court of Los Angeles County (Oct. 2, 2019, B297595) \_\_ Cal.App.5th \_\_, fn. 4 [2019 WL 4854863].) The appellate court held that where "the discovery sought exceeds the scope of the criminal discovery scheme, the qualified work-product protection is available in habeas corpus proceedings following an order to show cause." Significantly, where even the qualified work-product protection is available in a habeas corpus proceeding following an order to show cause, surely the more protected and absolute core work product protection must be available. By extension, in a post-conviction discovery context, where no order to show cause like those in habeas litigation has yet been issued, logic supports that an even greater protection for core work product than the protections recognized in Jimenez, must prevail.

Moreover, here, *In re Steele*, *supra*, is clear that discovery under Penal Code section 1054.9 includes only "materials to which the defendant

would have been entitled at the time of trial." (In re Steele, supra, 32 Cal.4th at p. 697; Jimenez v. Superior Court of Los Angeles County (Oct. 2, 2019, B297595) \_\_ Cal.App.5th \_\_, fn. 4 [2019 WL 4854863].) Jones is at the post-conviction discovery stage and In re Steele applies. He is limited to materials to which he would have been entitled at the time of trial. Because Jones was not entitled to criminal discovery of the prosecution's jury selection notes at the time of trial, he is not entitled to post-conviction discovery of those same notes. Thus, in the context of a Penal Code section 1054.9 post-conviction discovery motion, the court erred in ordering production of the prosecution's jury selection notes.

### B. Jury Selection Notes Are Absolutely Protected Under the Attorney Work Product Privilege

Jury selection notes are not disclosable because they are absolutely protected by the attorney work product privilege as writings reflecting an attorney's impressions, conclusions, or opinions. A prosecutor's notes relating to his or her thought processes during jury selection in a criminal trial are a prime example of attorney work product. (See *Izazaga v. Superior Court* (1991) 54 Cal.3d 356, 380–382.) Jury selection is a significant aspect of a criminal trial, and it is factually intensive with respect to an attorney's decisions to challenge jurors for cause or peremptorily in hopes of seating jurors potentially more favorable to the attorney's position.

The central justification for the work product doctrine is that it preserves the privacy of preparation that is essential to the attorney's adversary role. Any invasion of this privacy could distort or modify the attorney's function to the detriment of the adversary system. The function of work product privilege is to preserve the benefits of adverse representation without frustrating the goals of discovery. The core work product privilege

recognizes the need to protect the privacy of the attorney's mental processes.

The work product privilege in California is codified in Code of Civil Procedure section 2018.030. (*Coito v. Superior Court* (2012) 54 Cal.4th 480, 485.) In criminal cases, the privilege is limited to circumstances that fall within subdivision (a) of Code of Civil Procedure section 2018.030. (See Pen. Code, § 1054.6 ["Neither the defendant nor the prosecuting attorney is required to disclose any materials or information which are work product as defined in subdivision (a) of Section 2018.030 of the Code of Civil Procedure . . ."]; *People v. Zamudio* (2008) 43 Cal.4th 327, 355.)

Subdivision (a) of Code of Civil Procedure section 2018.030 provides: "A writing that reflects an attorney's impressions, conclusions, opinions, or legal research or theories is *not discoverable under any circumstances*." (Italics added.) The protection provided under subdivision (a) is "absolute." (*Coito v. Superior Court, supra*, 54 Cal.4th at p. 488.)

Despite this absolute protection of all attorney impressions, conclusions, and opinions not connected to legal theories, the Court of Appeal superimposed on the statutory requirements the additional requirement that those impressions conclusions, and opinions concern the legal theory of the case. It acknowledged that "there is no dispute that the prosecution's jury selection notes likely contain the prosecutor's impressions, conclusions, or opinions; this is the reason Jones seeks their disclosure. It is less clear whether those notes will reveal impressions, conclusions, or opinions about the legal theory of the case." (People v. Superior Court (Jones) (2019) 34 Cal.App.5th 75, 82, italics added.)

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