DEC 2 0 2019

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA Deputy

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Petitioner,

V.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY,

Respondent.

BRYAN MAURICE JONES,

Real Party in Interest.

Case No. S255826

CAPITAL CASE

Appeal from the Court of Appeal, Fourth District, Division One, No. D074028

San Diego County Superior Court, No. CR136371, Honorable Joan P. Weber

(Related to Habeas Corpus Case No. S217284 and Automatic Appeal Case No. S042346 [closed])

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Shelley J. Sandusky (Bar No. 155857)

Cliona Plunkett (Bar No. 256648)

Rachel G. Schaefer (Bar No. 298354)

HABEAS CORPUS RESOURCE CENTER

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

The two remaining out-of-state cases the District Attorney cites do concern other states' work-product protections as applied to counsel's jury selection notes, but these cases merely recognize the trial court's discretion to grant discovery and affirm the denial of a defense request for prosecutor notes under the facts of a particular case. (See *People v. Trujilio* (Colo. Ct. App. 2000) 15 P.3d 1104, 1107;²⁴ *Thorson v. State* (Miss. 1998) 721 So.2d 590, 595-596.) Neither compels nor even suggests the wholesale and impenetrable protection for jury selection notes that the District Attorney

The *Trujilio* Court relied at length on *People v. Mack* (Ill. 1989) 538 N.E.2d 1107, 1116, which also concerned discovery of the prosecutor's jury selection notes, but in which the trial court had examined the notes in camera during step three. The *Mack* Court noted that a judge's review of the notes in camera did not "automatically necessitate disclosure of them to the defense." (*Ibid.*) This language and *Trujilio*'s reliance on it demonstrate only that the trial courts wield discretion to determine whether such notes should be disclosed in a particular case.

advocates, and, notably, none involves facts akin to those identified by respondent court in Mr. Jones's case, wherein the prosecutor during a *Batson* hearing relied on his notes in order to proffer and validate the reasons for his strikes.

The District Attorney's further recitation of case law noting that at *Batson*'s third step a court may consider "whether the proffered rationale has some basis in accepted trial strategy" underscores that notations detailing reasons for juror strikes are ordinarily not considered to be core work product. (See OB at 13, citing *Armstrong*, *supra*, 6 Cal.5th at p. 767; *Smith*, *supra*, 4 Cal.5th at p. 1147; *Gutierrez*, *supra*, 2 Cal.5th at 1159; and *People* v. *Lenix* (2008) 44 Cal.4th 602, 613.) It is illogical to say that work-product protection applies to the very information the court is required to consider during *Batson*'s third step. Rather, these cases demonstrate the difference between a *jury-selection* strategy (which is often at issue and therefore on the record at *Batson* step three) and a *case* strategy, the disclosure of which would prejudice the proffering party and which therefore receives core work-product protection.

The District Attorney next imagines scenarios in which counsel's rationales for a strike *may* provide information about case strategy. She speculates: a "notation highlighting a juror's experience, *may* disclose the attorney's plan to emphasize more complicated expert testimony as opposed to other evidence," or that "[a] notation of 'trusts police' next to a juror's name *may* reveal the attorney will place heavier emphasis on police testimony rather than non-police testimony." (OB at 14, italics added.) Even at face value, these rationales for removing a prospective juror do not implicate core work-product protection. (See Code Civ. Proc., § 2018.020, subd. (a).) Prior to jury selection, opposing counsel already has a list of prosecution witnesses, their prior statements, and any "reports or statements of experts made in conjunction with the case." (Pen. Code, § 1054.1.) This

Attorney claims protection. These examples further support Mr. Jones's argument that without a specified showing as to how a notation will provide insight into counsel's case theory, it cannot be considered core work product. The District Attorney concedes as much – she claims the notes "may provide insight into what witnesses will be called and/or how much reliance the attorney plans to place on that witness's testimony." (OB at 14, italics added.) But counsel cannot ignore her burden to demonstrate that the notations she seeks to withhold will provide that insight to opposing counsel.

The Ninth Circuit similarly recognized that although some rationales for excusing jurors may implicate "confidential information, prejudicing the prosecution's ability to conduct its case," without a showing that release of specific information triggers such concerns, statutory protections are inappropriate. (*Thompson*, *supra*, 827 F.2d at p. 1259.) Generic concern about the release of potentially-prejudicial information, the *Thompson* Court found, could not

be considered in the abstract, nor is it necessarily relevant in all cases. It is certainly possible that in a particular case the prosecution's motive for excluding potential jurors will grow out of its case strategy, and divulging those reasons to opposing counsel could cause it severe prejudice. However, the prosecution's reasons may be much more mundane, as they were in this case: the potential juror's profession, attitude, dress, address and the fact that one had acquitted in a prior case. Disclosure of these reasons to opposing counsel could not conceivably have prejudiced the prosecution.

The District Attorney cites this language from *Thompson* in support of her assertion that divulgence of reasons for a strike would disclose prosecution case strategy. (OB at 13.) This ignores *Thompson*'s holding that ordinarily a prosecutor's motive for exercising strikes does not implicate case strategies and therefore disclosure is appropriate.

(*Ibid.*) Although *Thompson* reversed the lower court's grant of the prosecution's request to proffer step-two reasons ex parte, its rationale is equally instructive to the question raised herein: where the contents of the notes do not routinely contain information the disclosure of which is likely to prejudice the prosecution, those notes similarly are not worthy of blanket statutory protection. Absent a specific showing, the policy underlying core work-product protection is not implicated, and the statutory protection does not apply.

C. Counsel May Avail Herself of In Camera Review Where Disclosure Implicates Case Strategies, But Did Not Even Attempt to Do So Here.

For the first time the District Attorney asserts in her Opening Brief that respondent court's order "must be limited" and requests in camera review of the notes before they are disclosed. (OB at 29-31.) She further complains that "the trial court hearing the Penal Code section 1054.9 motion should have reviewed the prosecutor's notes in camera before ordering disclosure of all jury notes." (Ibid.) She also faults the Court of Appeal for "fail[ing] to consider such attendant issues as whether an in camera review was necessary prior to disclosure and whether the disclosure includes all notes or only notes concerning the challenged juror." (OB at 29.) But the District Attorney failed to request limitation of the discovery order or in camera review before respondent court, or raise these arguments either before the Court of Appeal or in her Petition for Review in this Court. She faults the lower courts for failing to sua sponte grant relief she never requested and still fails to specifically identify the portions of notes or information contained therein implicating case strategies and thereby entitled to statutory protection. By repeatedly failing to specifically identify notations worthy of core workproduct protection, or request either limitation of the scope of respondent court's order or in camera review below, the District Attorney has waived

these arguments and improperly raises them for the first time in this Court. (See *Mize v. Atchinson, T. & S.F. Ry. Co.* (1975) 46 Cal.App.3d 436, 447 [finding work-product protection claim waived where only broadly asserted to trial court: "It is not enough that he merely state that something is either work product or within the lawyer-client privilege. The burden is upon him to prove the preliminary facts to show that the privilege applies"], citing *Tanzola v. DeRita* (1955) 45 Cal.2d 1, 6, and *Collette v. Sarrasin* (1920) 184 Cal. 283; see Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(c)(1) ["As a policy matter, on petition for review the Supreme Court normally will not consider an issue that the petitioner failed to timely raise in the Court of Appeal"]; see also Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.520(b) [noting parties limited to "statement of issues in the petition for review, "and any issues fairly included in them"].)

Where counsel raises a timely and proper objection to disclosure, a trial court can determine when to apply work-product protection to some portion of a prosecutor's notes, in the same way a trial court may elect to conduct in camera Batson proceedings in those "rare cases" where disclosure would "entail confidential communications or reveal trial strategy." (McCollum, supra, 505 U.S. at p. 58.) As in other discovery contexts, applying this statutory protection requires the trial court to examine in camera specific documents as to which the prosecutor asserts the protection. (Coito, supra, 54 Cal.4th at p. 496; League of California Cities v. Superior Court (2015) 241 Cal.App.4th 976, 993, citing Dowden, supra, 73 Cal.App.4th at p. 135, and Wellpoint Health Networks, Inc. v. Superior Court (1997) 59 Cal. App. 4th 110, 121.) But invoking this review procedure requires a party to specifically identify the material it seeks to withhold. (Dowden, supra, 73 Cal.App.4th at p. 135 [finding in camera review appropriate for evaluating "specific items"]; Travelers Ins. Companies v. Superior Court (1983) 143 Cal. App.3d 436, 453 [holding determination of work-product protection "should be made on an item-by-item basis"].) The party asserting the protection bears the burden of demonstrating that the material is core work product and must establish preliminary facts demonstrating the protection's application "to each of the documents" sought to be withheld. (*BP Alaska Exploration, Inc., supra*, 199 Cal.App.3d at p. 1261; *Mize, supra*, 46 Cal.App.3d at p. 447.) The District Attorney's blanket assertions to respondent court that "[s]uch notes, if they exist, are core work product," (Petn. Ex. at 84; see also *id.* at 46) was insufficient to meet this burden.²⁶

The District Attorney's new assertion that disclosure should be limited only to those notes pertaining to the "challenged juror" (OB at 29) further ignores the significant role comparative juror analysis plays in determining the actual reasons for a prosecutor's strikes (*Miller-El II*, *supra*, 545 U.S. at p. 241), and the way comparative analysis of the prosecutor's notes and scoring system of prospective jurors contained therein may assist the court in ferreting out invidious discrimination. (See *Crittenden*, *supra*, 804 F.3d at p. 1012; *Crittenden*, *supra*, 624 F.3d at p. 956; see also Evid. Code, § 356 ["Where part of a[] . . . writing is given in evidence by one party, the whole on the same subject may be inquired into by an adverse party . . . and when a detached act . . or writing is given in evidence, any other . . . writing which is necessary to make it understood may also be given in evidence"].) A comparative analysis of notations and ratings of prospective jurors as contained in a prosecutor's notes may demonstrate that the prosecutor's

As a practical matter, counsel's notes concerning prospective jurors are routinely at least partially written on copies of juror questionnaires. (E.g., Foster, supra, 136 S.Ct. at p. 1744.) The prosecutor's resort to contents of specific jurors' questionnaires in the Batson hearing in Mr. Jones's case demonstrates the likelihood that at least some notes are contained on juror questionnaires. (Ret. Ex. at 11, 13 [referencing reasons for strikes based on questionnaires].) At a minimum, these juror questionnaires would not be subject to work-product protection, but the District Attorney's blanket assertion fails to parse out these clearly-discloseable items.

strikes "cannot be explained by a [prospective juror's] death penalty views or other race-neutral factors." (Crittenden, *supra*, 804 F.3d at p. 1012; see also *id.* at p. 1015 ["[t]]he wide difference in ratings provides strong additional support for the . . . finding that the prosecutor was substantially motivated by race"].) Evidence of other disparate treatment in notations between jurors of a particular race or gender and the rest of the pool similarly is evidence of invidious discrimination. (E.g., *Foster*, *supra*, 136 S.Ct. at p. 1744 [noting only race of Black prospective jurors highlighted]; accord *Mitcham*, *supra*, 103 F.Supp.3d at p. 1097.) This belatedly-added argument that the discovery order should be limited to only the struck Black jurors would defeat the purpose of *Batson*'s requirement that all relevant evidence must be considered in determining the prosecutor's actual reasons for exercising peremptory challenges in a facially-biased manner.

III. CORE WORK-PRODUCT PROTECTION, EVEN IF BROADLY APPLICABLE TO JURY SELECTION NOTES, WAS WAIVED BY THE PROSECUTOR'S ACTIONS IN MR. JONES'S CASE.

A. Fundamental Fairness Dictates that Any Applicable Protections Were Waived.

General principles of due process and fundamental fairness mandate that the prosecutor's use of and reliance on his notes during the *Batson* hearing waived any applicable statutory protections. Tendering the contents of his notes during his proffer was wholly inconsistent with continuing to claim work product and thereby waived the protection. (*DeLuca v. State Fish Co., Inc.* (2013) 217 Cal.App.4th 671, 688 [holding work-product protection may be waived by "tendering certain issues"], citing *Roush v. Seagate Technology, LLC* (2007) 150 Cal.App.4th 210, 222; see also *Transamerica Title Ins. Co. v. Superior Court.* (1987) 188 Cal.App.3d 1047, 1053 [finding party waives attorney-client privilege where he "places into issue a matter

that is normally privileged"].) Disclosing some shielded information waives work-product protection where such disclosure is "inconsistent with claiming the protection." (*Roush*, *supra*, at p. 222.)

In responding to the *Batson* claim in Mr. Jones's case, the prosecutor placed the contents of his notes directly at issue. He relied on the fact that his notes and the rating system contained therein had been created "without knowing what [the prospective jurors] look like" as evidence that his proffered rationales were not pretextual. (Ret. Ex. at 11; see also *id.* at 13 [asserting his rating of Prospective Juror C.G. was "based upon the entirety of her questionnaire"].) He further sought to bolster his proffered rationales with evidence that his notes contained not only his evaluation of prospective jurors, but also evaluations by two other members of staff, including "a two-time minority; female from a minority racial group." (*Id.* at 11, 23.) His reliance on the actual contents of his notes to bolster his proffer at step two directly tendered the question of the contents of his notes as an issue for the court's consideration and was entirely inconsistent with continuing to assert work-product protection.

At its core, a work-product waiver is rooted in fundamental fairness – a party cannot present some otherwise-protected information, then cry foul when opposing counsel seeks to ascertain the truth of that assertion by reviewing the material placed at issue. (*Mitchell v. Superior Court* (1984) 37 Cal.3d 591, 604 [agreeing that "fundamental fairness' may require disclosure of otherwise privileged information or communications where plaintiff has placed in issue a communication which goes to the heart of the claim in controversy"].) This Court has found equitable waiver of constitutional protections²⁷ against disclosure where failure to do so would

The Fourth and Fifth Amendment protections at issue in *Boyer* are more sacrosanct by virtue of their constitutional origins than those at issue in the instant case. (See *Izazaga*, *supra*, 54 Cal.3d at p. 381 [noting work-

"undermine the truth-seeking process" of the proceeding. (*People v. Boyer* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 412, 464.) The work-product protection is subject to similar equitable limitations: "The attorney cannot reveal his work product... and then claim work product privilege to prevent the opposing party from viewing the document from which [the witness] testified." (*Kerns v. Superior Court* (1968) 266 Cal.App.2d 405, 411.) The United States Supreme Court relied on these same principles to find that work-product protection as to a report was waived after an investigator testified to the report's contents:

Respondent can no more advance the work-product doctrine to sustain a unilateral testimonial use of work-product materials than he could elect to testify in his own behalf and thereafter assert his Fifth Amendment privilege to resist cross-examination on matters reasonably related to those brought out in direct examination.

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